
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

ALBANY DIVISION 

_________________________________ 

) 

ADEL EDWARDS, ) 

FRED BARBER,  ) 

VERA CHEEKS,  ) 

ULYSSES WEST,  ) 

JAMES H. DAVIS, JR., ) 

) 

Plaintiffs,     ) 

) CLASS ACTION 

v.      ) 

) CIVIL ACTION NO._____________

RED HILLS COMMUNITY   ) 

PROBATION, LLC,    ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

) 

MARGARET CRUTCHFIELD, ) 

Chief Executive Officer, Red Hills ) 

Community Probation, LLC, ) 

) 

MARTIELE PICKLE, Probation ) 

Officer, Red Hills Community ) 

Probation, LLC,  ) 

 ) 

JODI SIMPSON, Probation Officer,  ) 

Red Hills Community Probation, LLC, ) 

 ) 

NEALIE MCCORMICK, Chief of ) 

Police, City of Pelham, in his   ) 

official and individual capacities, ) 

 ) 

ERIC MILLER, Public Safety Director,  ) 

City of Bainbridge, in his official ) 

and individual capacities,  ) 

) 

JOHN DOES 1-3, City of Pelham ) 

Police Officers, in their individual ) 

capacities,  ) 
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JOHN DOES 4-6, City of ) 

Bainbridge Police Officers, in their ) 

individual capacities, ) 

 ) 

CITY OF PELHAM,    ) 

 ) 

CITY OF BAINBRIDGE,   ) 

 ) 

Defendants.     ) 

_________________________________ ) 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiffs Adel Edwards, Fred Barber, Vera Cheeks, Ulysses West, and 

James H. Davis, Jr., on behalf of themselves and the class alleged herein, by 

counsel, state as follows for their Complaint: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This is an action to stop Defendants—a private probation company,

private probation officers, and city police officers—from wrongfully detaining and 

jailing poor people who cannot afford to make payments on city court fines and 

probation supervision fees in cases before the Municipal Court of Pelham and the 

Municipal Court of Bainbridge.  This action further seeks to stop the private 

probation company in question from requiring former probationers to report to 

probation officers and to pay fines and fees after the expiration of the probationers’ 

sentences. 
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2. Red Hills Community Probation, LLC (“Red Hills”) contracts with

local governments to supervise probation cases. These cases are handled by the 

municipal courts of Bainbridge, Cairo, Pelham, and Whigham, and by the 

Magistrate Court of Grady County. 

3. Plaintiffs are indigent men and women who received citations for

misdemeanors or ordinance violations in Pelham or Bainbridge.  Plaintiffs 

Edwards, Barber, and Cheeks appeared in court and pleaded guilty to a 

misdemeanor or ordinance violation before Judge Joshua C. Bell, the presiding 

judge in the Pelham and Bainbridge Municipal Courts.  

4. Judge Bell fined each Plaintiff and placed each Plaintiff on probation.

Judge Bell then instructed each Plaintiff to meet with a probation officer. 

A. Immediate Payment or Seizure Policy 

5. Each Plaintiff met with a Red Hills probation officer inside the

courthouse.  In each case, the probation officer, without legal authority, informed 

the Plaintiff that he or she could not leave the courthouse until a payment was 

made.  In each case, the probation officer threatened the Plaintiff with jail if he or 

she did not pay a certain amount of money by the end of court proceedings. 

6. On the date Plaintiff Adel Edwards pleaded guilty to burning leaves in

his yard without a permit, Red Hills personnel and city police detained Edwards in 
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the courthouse and then caused Edwards to be jailed for several days because 

Edwards could not afford to make a $250 payment. 

7. On the date Plaintiff Fred Barber pleaded guilty to driving with a

suspended registration, Red Hills personnel and city police confined Barber in an 

inmate holding cell in the courthouse until Barber’s cousin brought $70 to secure 

his release. 

8. On the date Plaintiff Vera Cheeks pleaded guilty to the offense of

failing to come to a complete stop at a stop sign, Red Hills personnel and city 

police detained Cheeks at the courthouse until Cheeks’s fiancé brought $50 to 

secure her release. 

9. Defendants have a longstanding policy, custom, and practice of

seizing and detaining indigent probationers to coerce immediate payments without 

notice, opportunity to be heard, or opportunity to comply (“the Immediate Payment 

or Seizure Policy”).  The seizures are unsupported by any reason to believe that 

Plaintiffs have committed a probation violation.  The seizures are made without 

any hearing to investigate the reasons for nonpayment or alternatives to detention. 

Red Hills personnel, with the assistance and approval of municipal police officers 

who participate, have detained people in this manner repeatedly, over the course of 

years, in violation of clearly established law.  
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10. Red Hills personnel and city police officers have caused some

indigent probationers to be detained in the courthouse for hours while the 

probationers’ families scrambled to come up with money demanded by Red Hills.  

In other cases, Red Hills personnel and city police officers have caused indigent 

persons to be jailed because the probationers could not afford to pay.  

11. Defendants’ policy and practice of detaining people to coerce date-of-

adjudication payment violates provisions of the United States Constitution and the 

Georgia Constitution.  Further, this policy and practice violates Georgia law and 

constitutes false imprisonment.  Plaintiffs assert claims for violations of their civil 

rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and Georgia law. 

B. Expired Probation Sentence Policy 

12. Plaintiffs further bring this litigation to challenge a second, illegal

business practice by Red Hills—its practice of falsely representing to former 

probationers that they are required to report to Red Hills personnel and to pay Red 

Hills any remaining money owed on fines and fees even after the probationers’ 

sentences are complete (“the Expired Probation Sentence Policy”). 

13. When probationers are finished with their probationary periods but

still have not paid all fines and fees, Red Hills personnel have falsely instructed 

former probationers that they could be taken back to court and jailed for failing to 

report to Red Hills officers and failing to make payments to Red Hills. 
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14. Red Hills personnel have used threats of probation revocation and 

incarceration to ensure that former probationers will continue to pay and to report 

weekly to Red Hills officers. 

15. The threats made by Red Hills personnel are backed by no legal 

authority.  Red Hills’s policy in this regard constitutes fraud under Georgia law.  

The policy also deprives Plaintiffs and similarly situated probationers of their 

liberty without due process of law in violation of the United States Constitution 

and the Georgia Constitution. 

16. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and all indigent 

persons who face criminal charges requiring them to appear in the Pelham 

Municipal Court or the Bainbridge Municipal Court and who are subject to the 

Defendants’ policies and practices of: (a) demanding date-of-adjudication 

payments and seizing those who are unable make such payments; and (b) falsely 

representing to former probationers that they are required to report to Red Hills 

personnel and to pay Red Hills money even after the probation sentences are 

complete.   

17. Plaintiffs seek damages and declaratory and injunctive relief as set 

forth herein. 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

18. This court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, as this action arises under the laws and Constitution 

of the United States; pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1983; pursuant to its supplemental 

jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1367; and pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201, as an actual 

controversy exists within this Court’s jurisdiction. This Court is authorized to grant 

declaratory and injunctive relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202.  

19. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391, because at least one 

Defendant resides in this district and all Defendants reside in this State, and 

because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims set 

forth in this Complaint occurred within this district.      

PARTIES 
 

A. Plaintiffs 

 

20. Adel Edwards is a 54-year-old, indigent, African-American man who 

resides in Pelham, Georgia.  Edwards has an intellectual disability.  On April 24, 

2013, Edwards pleaded guilty in the Municipal Court of Pelham to burning leaves 

in his yard without a permit.           

21. Fred Barber is a 52-year-old, indigent, African-American man who 

resides in Bainbridge, Georgia.  On August 21, 2013, Barber pleaded guilty in the 

Municipal Court of Bainbridge to driving a vehicle with a suspended registration.   
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22. Vera Cheeks is a 52-year-old, indigent, African-American woman 

who resides in Bainbridge, Georgia.  On October 22, 2014 Cheeks pleaded guilty 

in the Municipal Court of Bainbridge to failing to come to a complete stop at a stop 

sign.   

23. Ulysses West is a 57-year-old African-American man who resides in 

Meigs, Georgia.  West has a fixed and limited income.  On March 27, 2015, West 

received a traffic citation for speeding in Pelham.  West cannot afford to pay his 

fine.  West’s citation requires him to appear in Pelham Municipal Court at a future 

date.  Absent injunctive relief from this Court, West is imminently likely to be 

subject to the Defendants’ unlawful policies as described in this Complaint. 

24. James H. Davis, Jr., is a 54-year-old African-American man who 

resides in Atlanta, Georgia.  Davis lives on a fixed income of approximately $710 

per month, most of which goes towards rent.  On January 29, 2015, Davis received 

a traffic citation for speeding in Pelham.  Davis cannot afford to pay his fine.  

Davis is required to appear in Pelham Municipal Court at a future date.  Absent 

injunctive relief from this Court, Davis is imminently likely to be subject to the 

Defendants’ unlawful policies as described in this Complaint.  

B. Defendants 

25. Defendant Red Hills Community Probation, LLC, is a Georgia 

company that does business in the State of Georgia, in this District, and in this 
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Division.  Red Hills is headquartered in Cairo, Georgia.  Red Hills performs a 

public function that was traditionally the exclusive prerogative of the State – 

supervision of people on probation.  Georgia law authorizes the Pelham Municipal 

Court and Bainbridge Municipal Court to contract with Red Hills to perform that 

public function.  O.C.G.A. § 42-8-100(h)(1).  Red Hills is a state actor and a 

person acting under color of state law and is liable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

26. Defendant Margaret Crutchfield is the owner of Red Hills Community 

Probation, LLC, and the company’s probation supervisor.  She resides in this 

District and this Division.  Crutchfield is a “private probation officer” performing a 

public function.  O.C.G.A. § 42-8-100(a)(2).  Crutchfield has caused, authorized, 

condoned, ratified, approved, and knowingly participated in a longstanding policy 

and practice of (A) detaining probationers at the Bainbridge and Pelham 

courthouses, without legal authority or probable cause, to coerce date-of-

adjudication payments; and (B) informing probationers they will be jailed if they 

fail to make payments by the end of the day’s court proceedings.  Crutchfield has 

caused probationers to be seized and detained for their failure to make immediate 

payments.  She has also caused probationers to continue reporting and making 

probation payments after their sentences have expired.  At all times pertinent to 

this action, she was acting under color of state law.  
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27. Defendant Martiele Pickle is a probation officer employed by Red 

Hills Community Probation, LLC.  She resides in this District and this Division.  

Pickle is a “private probation officer” performing a public function.  O.C.G.A. § 

42-8-100(a)(2).  Pickle has caused, authorized, condoned, ratified, approved, and 

knowingly participated in a longstanding policy and practice of (A) detaining 

probationers at the Bainbridge and Pelham courthouses, without legal authority or 

probable cause, to coerce date-of-adjudication payments; and (B) informing 

probationers they will be jailed if they fail to make payments by the end of the 

day’s court proceedings.  Pickle has caused probationers to be seized and detained 

for their failures to make immediate payments.  At all times pertinent to this action, 

she was acting under color of state law.  

28. Defendant Jodi Simpson is a probation officer employed by Red Hills 

Community Probation, LLC.  She resides in this District and this Division.  

Simpson is a “private probation officer” performing a public function.  O.C.G.A. § 

42-8-100(a)(2).  Simpson has caused, authorized, condoned, ratified, approved, and 

knowingly participated in a longstanding policy and practice of (A) detaining 

probationers at the Pelham courthouse, without legal authority or probable cause, 

to coerce date-of-adjudication payments; and (B) informing probationers they will 

be jailed if they fail to make payments by the end of the day’s court proceedings.  

Simpson has caused probationers to be jailed for their failure to make immediate 
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payments.  She has also caused former probationers to continue reporting and 

making probation payments after their sentences have expired.  At all times 

pertinent to this action, she was acting under color of state law.   

29. Defendant Nealie McCormick is the Chief of the City of Pelham 

Police Department.  He resides in this District and this Division.  McCormick is 

the final policymaker for the City of Pelham with respect to the participation of 

Pelham Police Department officers in implementing the policies challenged in this 

Complaint.  McCormick knew or should have known of the City’s and Red Hills’s 

longstanding policy of detaining indigent probationers to coerce payment, and 

knew that police officers under his command effectuated these illegal detentions.  

McCormick caused, authorized, condoned, ratified, approved, participated in, or 

knowingly acquiesced in the illegal policies or practices described in this 

Complaint.  His actions and inactions were deliberately indifferent to the 

constitutional rights of Plaintiffs.  He is sued in his individual capacity and in his 

official capacity as Chief of Police.  At all times pertinent to this action, he was 

acting under color of state law. 

30. Defendant Eric Miller is the Director of the City of Bainbridge 

Department of Public Safety.  He resides in this District and this Division.  Miller 

is the final policymaker for the City of Bainbridge with respect to the participation 

of Bainbridge Department of Public Safety officers in implementing the policies 
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challenged in this Complaint.  Miller knew or should have known of the City’s and 

Red Hills’s longstanding policy of detaining indigent probationers to coerce 

payment, and knew that police officers under his command effectuated these 

illegal detentions. Miller caused, authorized, condoned, ratified, approved, 

participated in, or knowingly acquiesced in the illegal policies and practices 

described in this Complaint.  His actions and inactions were deliberately 

indifferent to the constitutional rights of Plaintiffs.  He is sued in his individual 

capacity and in his official capacity as Public Safety Director.  At all times 

pertinent to this action, he was acting under color of state law.     

31. Defendants John Does 1-3 are officers of the City of Pelham Police 

Department.  Each is sued in his individual capacity.  Does 1-3 include officers of 

the Pelham Police Department who were present in the Pelham Municipal Court on 

April 24, 2013, and who were personally responsible for detaining Edwards and 

transporting him to and confining him in the Pelham City Jail.  At all times 

pertinent to this action, each of Does 1-3 was acting under color of state law. 

32. Defendants John Does 4-6 are officers of the City of Bainbridge 

Department of Public Safety.  Each is sued in his individual capacity.  Does 4-6 

include officers of the Bainbridge Department of Public Safety who were present 

in the Bainbridge Municipal Court on August 21, 2013 and October 22, 2014, and 
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who were personally responsible for detaining Barber and Cheeks.  At all times 

pertinent to this action, each of Does 4-6 was acting under color of state law. 

33. Defendant City of Pelham, Georgia, is a municipal governmental

entity whose policies, practices, and customs were a moving force in the 

constitutional violations described in this Complaint.  For years, city police officers 

have participated routinely with Red Hills in the illegal detention of probationers to 

coerce payments.  Red Hills is able to carry out the policies and practices 

challenged in this case only with the approval and assistance of city police officers, 

whose active participation in the seizures adds credibility to threats of Red Hills 

personnel.  These officers participate in the seizures of probationers both at the 

courthouse and at the city jail.  The City is liable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 because 

(a) Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights were violated; (b) the City had a well-settled and 

longstanding custom, policy, or practice of detaining indigent probationers to 

coerce immediate payment that constituted deliberate indifference to these 

constitutional rights; and (c) the custom or policy caused the violation.  In the 

alternative, the City delegated its final policymaking authority to Red Hills to 

obtain revenue from probationers, and delegated its final policymaking authority 

concerning arrests and detentions to the Chief of Police and Red Hills.  

34. Defendant City of Bainbridge, Georgia, is a municipal governmental

entity whose policies, practices, and customs were a moving force in the 
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constitutional violations described in this Complaint.  For years, city police officers 

have participated routinely with Red Hills in the illegal detention of probationers to 

coerce payments.  Red Hills is able to carry out the policies and practices 

challenged in this case only with the approval and assistance of city police officers, 

whose active participation in the seizures adds credibility to threats of Red Hills 

personnel.  The City is liable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 because (a) Plaintiffs’ 

constitutional rights were violated; (b) the City had a well-settled and longstanding 

custom, policy, or practice of detaining indigent probationers to coerce payment 

that constituted deliberate indifference to these constitutional rights; and (c) the 

custom or policy caused the violation.  In the alternative, the City delegated its 

final policymaking authority to Red Hills to obtain revenue from probationers, and 

delegated its final policymaking authority concerning arrests and detentions to the 

Director of Public Safety and Red Hills.   

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

 

35. Plaintiffs bring this class action pursuant to Rules 23(a) and (b)(2) 

and/or (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on their behalf and on behalf 

of a class similarly situated and affected during the pendency of this lawsuit and in 

the future.  Plaintiffs will seek to certify two classes, the first of which will seek 

relief with respect to the “Immediate Payment or Seizure Policy” and the second of 

which will seek relief with respect to the “Expired Probation Sentence Policy.”  
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The first class is defined as all indigent persons with criminal charges requiring 

them to appear in the Pelham Municipal Court or the Bainbridge Municipal Court 

who are or were subject to the Defendants’ policy and practice of seizing and 

detaining probationers who fail to make date-of-adjudication payments.  The 

second class is defined as all indigent persons with criminal charges requiring them 

to appear in the Pelham Municipal Court or the Bainbridge Municipal Court who 

are or were subject to Red Hills’s policy of requiring persons to report to Red Hills 

personnel and/or pay Red Hills personnel even after their probation sentences had 

expired.   

36. Plaintiffs meet the requirements of Rule 23(a) in that:   

a. Each class is so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  The first class consists of hundreds of persons who 

have been or will be under a legal obligation to appear before the 

municipal courts in question, and who are subject to Defendants’ 

policy or custom of demanding immediate payments and seizing those 

who fail to make such payments.  The second class consists of a large 

but as yet unknown number of persons who have been or will be 

subject to Defendants’ policy of requiring persons to report to Red 

Hills personnel and/or pay Red Hills even after the probationary 

period has expired.   
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b. There are questions of law and fact common to the classes concerning 

the constitutionality and lawfulness of the Defendants’ policies 

challenged in this Complaint.  The absence of any lawful basis for 

detaining probationers to coerce payment presents a question of fact 

and law common to all class members.  Similarly, there is a common 

question as to whether the “Expired Probation Sentence Policy” 

violates state and federal law.  

c. The policies challenged in this action apply with equal force to the 

named plaintiffs and all members of each class so that the claims of 

the plaintiffs are typical of those of the class.  Edwards, Barber, and 

Cheeks were subject to the “Illegal Detention Policy.”  Edwards was 

subject to the “Expired Probation Sentence Policy.”  West and Davis 

have yet to be adjudicated, and face an imminent risk of being subject 

to both illegal policies.  

d. The named Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of 

each class.  The Plaintiffs possess the requisite personal interest in the 

subject matter of the lawsuit and possess no interests adverse to other 

class members.  The Plaintiffs are represented by attorneys at the 

Southern Center for Human Rights, a nonprofit organization with 

extensive experience in complex class action litigation.   
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37. Plaintiffs meet the requirements of Rule 23(b)(2) in that the 

Defendants acted or refused to act on grounds that apply generally to each class, so 

that final injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief is appropriate 

respecting the class as a whole. 

38. Plaintiffs meet the requirements of Rule 23(b)(3) because common 

questions of law and fact predominate over questions affecting individual class 

members.  A class action is superior to any other method of adjudicating this 

dispute because hundreds of indigent people are subjected to the illegal policies 

described in this Complaint, but few are likely to have the time, legal acumen, and 

resources to pursue the claims at issue in this case on their own. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 

A. The Cities’ Delegation of Municipal Probation Services to Red Hills  

 

39. Georgia law authorizes municipalities to contract with private 

companies to provide probation supervision services.  O.C.G.A. § 42-8-100(h)(1).  

40. Specifically, under Georgia law, “[t]he judge of [a] municipal court . . 

. with the approval of the governing authority of that municipality . . . is authorized 

to enter into written contracts with private corporations, enterprises, or agencies to 

provide probation supervision, counseling, collection services for all moneys to be 

paid by a defendant according to the terms of the sentence imposed and any 

moneys which by operation of law are to be paid by the defendant in consequence 
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of the conviction, and other probation services for persons convicted in such court 

and placed on probation.”  O.C.G.A. § 42-8-100(h)(1).   

41. Red Hills is a party to contracts authorizing it to provide probation 

supervision services to defendants adjudicated in the Municipal Court of 

Bainbridge and the Municipal Court of Pelham. 

B. The Defendants’ Policy of Detaining Probationers to Coerce Payment 
 

42. The city courts in Bainbridge and Pelham each hold court 

approximately once per month.  Judge Joshua C. Bell presides over both courts.   

43. Indigent defendants are seldom appointed counsel in either court.
1
   

44. In Bainbridge and Pelham, Red Hills personnel are present in the city 

courthouses during adjudications.  In Bainbridge, where city court is held in the 

county courthouse, a Red Hills representative is stationed in a room adjacent to the 

courtroom.  In Pelham, where city court is held in a large room housed in a former 

train depot, a Red Hills representative is stationed inside the courtroom across the 

room from the judge’s bench.   

45. In both city courts, defendants who cannot afford to pay their fines on 

or before the day of court are typically placed on probation with Red Hills for the 

                                                      
1
 The Pelham Municipal Court adjudicates over 1,000 cases each year.  In 2012, 

the Pelham Municipal Court appointed counsel in 19 cases; in 2013, the court 

appointed counsel in 9 cases.  The Bainbridge Municipal Court adjudicates 

approximately 2,000 cases each year.  In 2012, the Bainbridge Municipal Court 

appointed counsel in 14 cases; in 2013, the court appointed counsel in 26 cases.       
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purpose of having Red Hills collect their money.  Once on probation, these 

defendants are required to pay probation supervision fees of $44 per month, which 

can more than double the amount of a defendant’s monetary obligation. 

46. As a matter of policy and practice, after Judge Bell places a defendant 

on probation, he instructs the defendant to talk to a Red Hills probation officer.   

47. During the initial probation meeting, the probation officer tells the 

person his total monetary obligation.  Red Hills multiplies its monthly fee by the 

number of months of probation, adds the fine, and presents the probationer with a 

lump sum for which the probationer is liable.     

48. Pursuant to the Defendants’ policy, the probation officer then informs 

the probationer that he or she is not free to leave, and that he or she must remain in 

place until a fixed payment has been made.   

49. Red Hills probation officers inform probationers that if they do not 

make the payment, they will go to the Pelham City Jail until a payment is received.  

(The City of Bainbridge contracts with the City of Pelham to house Bainbridge 

inmates in the Pelham City Jail.)   

50. In Bainbridge, defendants meet with a Red Hills probation officer in a 

room accessible through a door in the courtroom.  Once the probationer enters that 

room, Red Hills personnel and Bainbridge Department of Public Safety officers, 

without legal authority or probable cause, prevent the probationer from leaving 
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until a probation officer authorizes him or her to leave.  The only other exit is 

through a locked door controlled by law enforcement officers.  Police officers are 

present in the courtroom and move back and forth between the courtroom and the 

probation holding area.   

51. In Pelham, defendants meet with a Red Hills probation officer at a 

desk across the courtroom from the judge’s bench.  Without legal authority or 

probable cause, Red Hills personnel and Pelham Police Department officers 

prevent probationers from leaving the courtroom until permitted to do so by a Red 

Hills probation officer.  Police officers are present in the courtroom and move back 

and forth between the courtroom and the probation holding area. 

52. In both Bainbridge and Pelham, Red Hills probation officers follow a 

policy, custom, and practice of conscripting families and friends into paying Red 

Hills.  When the probation officers know that a probationer cannot pay, they 

instruct the probationer to contact family members or friends.  In this way, Red 

Hills probation officers exploit poor families under color of law, effectively 

demanding a ransom for the return of their loved ones.   

53. The policy described in the preceding paragraphs is persistent, 

widespread, longstanding, and so common and well-settled as to constitute a 

custom that fairly represents municipal policy. 
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C. The Defendants’ Policy of Threatening Probationers with Jail after 

Sentences Have Expired 

 
54. Some probationers are unable to pay their fines and fees in full before 

their probation sentences expire. 

55. Red Hills probation officers have threatened to jail individuals for 

nonpayment of unpaid fines and fees even after probation has ended and the former 

probationer is no longer subject to the supervision of Red Hills or the jurisdiction 

of the municipal court.  Red Hills personnel refer to these cases as “expired pay” 

cases. 

56. Red Hills probation officers know that they have no legal basis for 

requiring former probationers to continue reporting.  The officers use false 

statements to mislead former probationers into believing otherwise.  Red Hills 

probation officers, in order to keep individuals under their control, instill fear in 

current probationers with the threat of revocation and jail.   

57. Red Hills personnel have instructed purported probationers in 

“expired pay” status to solicit contributions from friends and loved ones so that the 

purported probationers will not have to go to jail. 
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D. Application of Defendants’ Policies to Adel Edwards 

58. On February 16, 2013, Adel Edwards received a citation for burning 

leaves in his yard without a permit.  Edwards appeared in the Pelham Municipal 

Court on April 24, 2014, and pleaded guilty.     

59. The Pelham Municipal Court sentenced Edwards to pay a $500 fine.  

Because Edwards could not pay this fine on the day of court, Judge Bell placed 

Edwards on probation for 12 months and ordered him to pay $44 per month.     

60. After Judge Bell sentenced Edwards, Judge Bell instructed Edwards to 

meet with Red Hills representatives.  Edwards complied.  City of Pelham police 

officers were stationed in the courtroom and around the probation meeting area, 

such that Edwards was not free to leave.  A uniformed police officer was stationed 

at the door to the courtroom to prevent anyone from leaving without authorization. 

61. Plaintiffs expect to show the probation officers on duty that day were 

Defendants Pickle and Simpson.  When Edwards met with Pickle and Simpson, he 

was told that he owed not $500, but $1,028, to include $528 for probation 

supervision fees. 

62. After the Red Hills probation officer told Edwards that he owed 

$1,028, the probation officer told Edwards that he was required to make an 

immediate payment before he could leave the courthouse.  The probation officer 

instructed Edwards to remain in the courtroom until he paid.  Before meeting with 
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the probation officer, Edwards had not been informed of his probation conditions, 

and had no reason to know that he would be required to make a payment that day. 

63. Edwards and loved ones accompanying him that day told his 

probation officer that he was physically and intellectually disabled, that he could 

not work, and that he had no money.   

64.  Pickle and/or Simpson responded that if Edwards did not have the 

full amount, he would have to go to jail. 

65. There were law enforcement officers in Edwards’s immediate vicinity 

when he met with Red Hills representatives and when Pickle and/or Simpson told 

Edwards he could not leave the courthouse.        

66. As instructed by the Red Hills representatives, Edwards remained in 

the courtroom until court was over.     

67. When court proceedings ended, City of Pelham police officers 

transported Edwards to jail.     

68. Edwards remained in jail for several days until a friend was able to 

bring $250 to have Edwards released. 

69. Thereafter, Edwards reported to Red Hills probation officers and 

made four installment payments totaling $138 over 12 months.  During the course 

of probation, Edwards was repeatedly threatened by Defendant Simpson.  Simpson 

told Edwards that Red Hills would have him incarcerated if he did not pay. 
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70. Edwards’s probation expired on April 24, 2014.  Although Edwards 

was no longer on probation after April 24, 2014, and was no longer under any 

obligation with respect to Red Hills, Simpson continued to instruct Edwards to 

report to Red Hills and to pay.  These instructions were given to Edwards on the 

occasions set forth below when Edwards reported to Simpson after his probation 

had expired.  

71. In reliance on his probation officer’s false representation regarding his 

responsibility to report and pay Red Hills, Edwards reported to Simpson and paid 

Red Hills numerous times following the expiration of his sentence, including on: 

August 14, 2014 ($2); September 11, 2014 ($4); October 17, 2014 ($4); November 

13, 2014 ($5); and December 11, 2014 ($5).   

72. In or around December 2014, Simpson told Edwards that if he did not 

bring in money the following week, she would take a warrant out on him. 

73. Edwards reported to Simpson as recently as the first week of March 

2015, and Simpson instructed Edwards to report again on March 12, 2015. 

74. As a result of Edwards’s post-probation reporting, Defendant Simpson 

obtained two benefits for Red Hills.  First, she obtained payments of money that 

Edwards otherwise would not have paid.  Second, she obtained a reputation among 

Red Hills’s customers for maximizing collections from poor people whose limited 

Case 1:15-cv-00067-LJA   Document 1   Filed 04/10/15   Page 24 of 41



 25 

resources would not have been diverted to probation-related debts absent credible 

threats of incarceration. 

75. Red Hills stopped requiring Edwards to pay and report after 

undersigned counsel filed a “Motion to Stop Enforcement of Expired Probation 

Sentence” in the Pelham Municipal Court on March 11, 2015.    

E. Application of Defendants’ Policies to Fred Barber 

76. In June 2013, Fred Barber received a citation for driving a vehicle 

with a suspended registration.  On August 21, 2013, Barber appeared in the 

Bainbridge Municipal Court and pleaded guilty.     

77. Judge Bell sentenced Barber to a fine of $590 and 12 months 

probation at $44 per month.     

78. After Judge Bell sentenced Barber, Judge Bell instructed Barber to 

meet with a probation officer.  A Bainbridge police officer led Barber to a room 

behind the courtroom.  The room had two exits.  One was through the courtroom.  

The other was through a locked, back door.    

79. In this room, Barber met with Defendant Martiele Pickle.  Pickle told 

Barber that he owed a $590 fine, plus $528 for one year of probation supervision, 

for a total of $1,118. 

80. Pickle told Barber that he had to pay $280 in cash before he could 

leave the courthouse.  Before meeting with Pickle, Barber had not been informed 

Case 1:15-cv-00067-LJA   Document 1   Filed 04/10/15   Page 25 of 41



 26 

of his probation conditions, and did not have any reason to know that he would be 

required to make a payment that day. 

81. Barber told Pickle that he had $210 in his pocket from his last 

paycheck.  He asked if he could give Pickle $210 and bring in the rest at a later 

time.  Pickle said if Barber did not immediately pay $280, he would be 

incarcerated in the Pelham City Jail. 

82. There were law enforcement officers in Barber’s immediate vicinity 

when Pickle told Barber he could not leave the courthouse until he paid $280.  

There was no way for Barber to leave Pickle’s office, except through the 

courtroom.  And there were uniformed officers stationed in the courtroom and in 

Pickle’s office.  The officers controlled access into and out of the area.  When 

Barber got to Pickle’s office, he was not free to leave.      

83. To avoid being taken to jail in Pelham, Barber summoned his cousin 

who had come to court with him that day.  Barber asked his cousin if she could 

borrow money from a friend for whom Barber did yard work.   

84. While Pickle and city police officers detained Barber at the 

courthouse, Barber’s cousin left the courthouse to attempt to borrow money to 

secure Barber’s release.  Pickle and a city police officer required Barber to sit in an 

inmate holding cell in the courthouse while Barber waited for his cousin to bring 

money.   
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85. Barber’s cousin borrowed $70 from Barber’s friend.  Barber gave 

Pickle the $70 in borrowed money plus the $210 he brought to court.  Pickle 

permitted Barber to leave the room only after Barber paid $280.  

F. Application of Defendants’ Policies to Vera Cheeks 

86. On September 23, 2014, Vera Cheeks received a traffic citation for 

failing to come to a complete stop at a stop sign.  On October 22, 2014, Cheeks 

appeared in the Municipal Court of Bainbridge and pleaded nolo contendere to the 

charge.  Judge Bell imposed $135 fine.   

87. At the time of her adjudication, Cheeks was unemployed and caring 

for her father who was then terminally ill.  Because Cheeks did not have $135, 

Judge Bell placed her on probation for three months.     

88. After Judge Bell sentenced Cheeks, Judge Bell instructed Cheeks to 

meet with a probation officer.  Cheeks proceeded to a room behind the courtroom.  

The room had two exits.  One was through the courtroom.  The other was through 

a locked, back door.    

89. Once Cheeks was in the probation room, Defendant Pickle informed 

Cheeks that she owed $135, plus $105 in probation supervision fees, and $27 for 

the Georgia Crime Victims Emergency Fund.  Pickle gave Cheeks a document that 

told her to report to the probation office once per week.   
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90. Pickle then told Cheeks that Cheeks could not leave until she paid 

$50.  Cheeks explained that she did not have $50.  Pickle said again that Cheeks 

could not leave until she paid $50.  Pickle told Cheeks that if she did not pay, she 

would go to jail.  Before meeting with the probation officer, Cheeks had not been 

informed of her probation conditions, and did not have any reason to know that she 

would be required to make a payment that day. 

91. Cheeks’s fiancé, James Bullard, was waiting for Cheeks in the 

courtroom.  Cheeks was permitted to open the door to the courtroom and motion to 

summon Bullard. 

92. Bullard took the engagement ring off Cheeks’s finger.  Then he went 

to get a piece of lawn equipment from his house, and pawned both the ring and the 

lawn equipment at American Pawn & Jewelry in Bainbridge.  Together, the ring 

and equipment were exchanged for $50 in cash.   

93. Unable to leave, Cheeks sat in the probation room.  She worried about 

going to jail because her father was terminally ill, and she was helping to care for 

him in his final weeks.     

94. Later that day, Bullard returned to the courthouse and gave $50 to 

Pickle.  Only then did Pickle let Cheeks leave the courthouse.  After Cheeks paid, a 

law enforcement officer used her badge to open the door of the probation room so 

Cheeks and Bullard could exit.   
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CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

 

COUNT ONE 

 

Due Process Clause Violations 

 

Violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, 

Brought Under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and  

Violation of Art. I, Sec. I, Para. I of the Georgia Constitution 

 

(by all Plaintiffs against all Defendants) 
 

95. Plaintiffs incorporate herein and re-allege, as if fully set forth herein, 

all factual allegations of paragraphs 1-17, 20-34, and 39-94. 

96. Defendants seized indigent probationers and caused probationers to be 

detained and/or jailed when probationers were unable to make date-of-adjudication 

payments on city court fines and fees.  Defendants detained probationers without 

notice to the probationers that they would be required to make date-of-adjudication 

payment, and without any process available to challenge the legality of detention.  

97. By detaining Plaintiffs without notice or legal authority to collect 

payments on city court fines and fees, Defendants deprived Plaintiffs of their 

liberty without due process of law in violation of Plaintiffs’ rights.  U.S. Const. 

amend. XIV; Ga. Const. art. 1, § I, ¶¶ I and II. 

98. Defendants jointly and severally caused deprivations of Plaintiffs’ 

liberty, under color of law, without providing notice or an opportunity to be heard.  

In addition, Defendants jointly and severally caused deprivations of Plaintiffs’ 
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substantive due process rights through their deliberate indifference to Plaintiffs’ 

rights and their conscience-shocking behavior.  

99. Defendants knew or should have known that the conduct described 

herein violated Plaintiffs’ rights.   

100. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ illegal policies and 

practices, Defendants deprived Plaintiffs and others of their liberty.   

101. Defendants’ above-described actions were willful, deliberate, and 

malicious, and involved reckless or callous indifference to Plaintiffs’ rights and 

should be punished and deterred by an award of punitive or enhanced damages 

against individual Defendants as permitted by law. 

COUNT TWO 

 

Equal Protection Clause Violations 

 

Violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, 

Brought Under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and  

Violation of Art. I, Sec. I, Para. II of the Georgia Constitution 

 

(by all Plaintiffs against all Defendants) 

 

102. Plaintiffs incorporate herein and re-allege, as if fully set forth herein, 

all factual allegations of paragraphs 1-17, 20-34, and 39-94. 

103. Defendants seized indigent probationers and caused probationers to be 

detained and/or jailed when probationers were unable to make date-of-adjudication 
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payments on court fines and fees.  Defendants treated people with money 

differently than indigent people without a rational basis for the disparate treatment. 

104. By detaining indigent Plaintiffs without notice or legal authority to 

collect payments on fines and fees, Defendants deprived Plaintiffs of the equal 

protection of the law.  U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Ga. Const. art. 1, § I, ¶¶ II.   

105. Defendants jointly and severally caused deprivations of Plaintiffs’ 

liberty, under color of law.   

106. Defendants knew or should have known that detaining indigent 

persons, without legal authority, violated Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights.   

107. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ illegal policy and 

practice, Defendants deprived Plaintiffs and others of their liberty.   

108. Defendants’ above-described actions were willful, deliberate, and 

malicious, and involved reckless or callous indifference to Plaintiffs’ rights and 

should be punished and deterred by an award of punitive or enhanced damages 

against individual Defendants as permitted by law.  
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COUNT THREE 

Unconstitutional Seizure 

Violation of the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States 

Constitution, Brought Under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and Violation of Art. I, Sec. 

I, Para. XIII of the Georgia Constitution 

(by all Plaintiffs against all Defendants) 

109. Plaintiffs incorporate herein and re-allege, as if fully set forth herein, 

all factual allegations of paragraphs 1-17, 20-34, and 39-94. 

110. Without probable cause or legal authority, Defendants caused 

probationers to be detained and/or jailed when probationers were unable to make 

immediate payments on court fines and fees. 

111. Defendants had no particularized and objective basis to believe that 

any Plaintiff they seized had committed or was committing any criminal offense or 

violation. 

112. The detentions of the Plaintiffs were unreasonable seizures under the 

Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and under 

Ga. Const. art. I, sec. I, para. XIII. 

113. The seizure of the Plaintiffs was excessive and unreasonable in its 

duration and scope. 

114. The seizure of the Plaintiffs constituted an arrest for which probable 

cause was required.  The arrest of the Plaintiffs was unreasonable. 
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115. Defendants intended to confine the Plaintiffs, committed acts resulting 

in their confinement, and the Plaintiffs were aware of their confinement.  The 

Plaintiffs reasonably did not believe they were free to leave. 

116. It was clearly established before the dates of Plaintiffs’ detentions that 

seizing and detaining Plaintiffs simply because they did not have money, would 

violate the Plaintiffs’ clearly established rights.  The Defendants had fair warning 

that their conduct would violate the Constitution and no reasonable officer or 

probation officer could have believed that the seizure or incarceration of the 

Plaintiffs was legal. 

117. The Defendants’ actions were conducted pursuant to the Defendants’ 

policy, practice, or custom with the force of law: (A) to seize and detain 

probationers during municipal court proceedings to coerce payments; (B) to 

threaten probationers with further detention and incarceration for non-payment; (C) 

to transport indigent probationers to jail in the event of non-payment; and (D) to 

hold indigent probationers in jail to coerce payment on court fines and fees. 

118. In each and every instance set forth above, Defendants acted 

intentionally, with malice, and with actual intent to cause injury in the performance 

of their official functions.  Defendants knew or should have known that detaining 

Plaintiffs, without any legal authority, violated Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights. 
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119. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ illegal policies and 

practices, Defendants deprived Plaintiffs and others of their liberty.  Defendants 

are jointly and severally liable for the violations of Plaintiffs’ rights, and the harm 

they suffered as a result, because each Defendant either personally participated in 

the actions or failures to act, or implicitly authorized, approved, or knowingly 

condoned or failed to remedy the wrongs at issue. 

120. Defendants’ above-described actions were willful, deliberate, and 

malicious, and involved reckless or callous indifference to Plaintiffs’ rights and 

should be punished and deterred by an award of punitive or enhanced damages 

against individual Defendants as permitted by law.  

COUNT FOUR 

False Imprisonment  

 (by Plaintiffs Barber and Cheeks against Defendants Red Hills, Crutchfield, 

Pickle, and John Does 4-6; by Plaintiff Edwards against Defendants Red Hills, 

Crutchfield, Pickle, Simpson, and John Does 1-3) 

 

121. Plaintiffs incorporate herein and re-allege, as if fully set forth herein, 

all factual allegations of paragraphs 1-17, 20-34, and 39-94.  

122. “False imprisonment is the unlawful detention of the person of 

another, for any length of time, whereby such person is deprived of his personal 

liberty.”  O.C.G.A. § 51-7-20.   
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123. By unlawfully detaining Plaintiffs and depriving them of their 

personal liberty, Defendants are guilty of false imprisonment, a tort for which an 

action for damages will lie under O.C.G.A. § 51-7-20. 

124. Defendants conspired to accomplish the unlawful objective of falsely 

imprisoning Plaintiffs by unlawful means. 

125. The false imprisonment was the act of the several Defendants jointly, 

and Defendants are jointly and severally liable for the entire damages pursuant to 

O.C.G.A. § 51-7-22. 

126. The individual Defendants, with malice and oppression, falsely 

imprisoned and/or combined and conspired to falsely imprison Plaintiffs, and did 

so under color of law. 

COUNT FIVE 

Unlawful Imprisonment for Debt 

Violation of Art. I, Sec. I, Para. XXIII of the Georgia Constitution 

(by Plaintiffs Edwards, Barber, and Cheeks against all Defendants) 

127. Plaintiffs incorporate herein and re-allege, as if fully set forth herein, 

all factual allegations of paragraphs 1-17, 20-34, and 39-94. 

128. Ga. Const. Art. I, Sec. I, Para. XXIII states: “There shall be no 

imprisonment for debt.” 
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129. Defendants imprisoned Edwards for debt when they caused Edwards 

to be jailed because Edwards could not afford to pay $250.  Defendants imprisoned 

Barber and Cheeks for debt when Defendants seized and detained Barber and 

Cheeks in the courthouse because they could not pay their city court debt. 

COUNT SIX 

Fraud 

(by Plaintiff Edwards against Defendants Red Hills, 

Crutchfield, and Simpson) 

130. Plaintiffs incorporate herein and re-allege, as if fully set forth herein, 

all factual allegations of paragraphs 1-17, 25-34, 39-41, and 54-75. 

131. Defendants Red Hills, Crutchfield, and Simpson committed the tort of 

fraud against Adel Edwards.  The tort of fraud has five elements: false 

representation, scienter, inducement, reliance, and injury.  

132. Defendant Simpson made a series of false, verbal representations to 

Edwards that he was required to continue to report in person to Red Hills personnel 

and to pay court fines and fees after his probation sentence was over.  Simpson 

knew when making this false representation to Edwards that Red Hills had no legal 

authority to require Edwards to pay or report after his sentence was over.  Red 

Hills, through Simpson, nonetheless induced Edwards to pay and report to the 
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probation office for nearly one year after Edwards’s sentence expired.  Defendants 

undertook these acts with malice and intent to deceive Edwards.     

133. Edwards relied on Defendants’ false representations and, as a 

proximate result of the false representations, Edwards paid and reported to Red 

Hills for months after his sentence expired.  Edwards was injured by his reliance 

on the false representations because he continued to pay, continued to report, and 

continued to experience worry and stress that he would be jailed for falling behind 

in his “probation” obligations. 

COUNT SEVEN 

Injunctive Relief 

134. Plaintiffs incorporate herein and re-allege, as if fully set forth herein, 

the allegations of paragraphs 1-17, 20-34, and 39-94. 

135. Plaintiffs seek an injunction to prevent Defendants from detaining and 

jailing poor people who fail to make extorted, date-of-adjudication payments on 

city court fines and probation supervision fees.  Plaintiffs seek an injunction to 

prevent Defendants Red Hills and Red Hills probation officers from requiring 

probationers to pay and report to probation officers, even after the probationers’ 

sentences are complete.   
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136. Defendants’ conduct is not authorized by any Georgia law and 

violates 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

137. Defendants’ conduct is likely to continue unless enjoined. 

Defendants’ conduct is causing Plaintiffs immediate irreparable harm that cannot 

be remedied by the award of money damages.  Plaintiffs have no plain, adequate, 

or complete remedy at law to redress the wrongs described herein. 

138. The balance of the hardships and public policy strongly favor the 

Court entering a preliminary injunction and thereafter permanently enjoining 

Defendants’ unlawful policies and practices as described herein.  

COUNT EIGHT 

Declaratory Relief 

139. Plaintiffs incorporate herein and re-allege, as if fully set forth herein, 

all factual allegations of paragraphs 1-17, 20-34, and 39-94. 

140. Without legal authority, Defendants caused probationers to be 

detained in the courthouse and/or jail when probationers were unable to make 

immediate payments on court fines and fees.  Defendants detained probationers 

without any notice to the probationers that they would be required to make day-of-

court payments, and without any process to challenge the legality of detention. 
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141. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201, Plaintiffs seek a declaration by the 

Court that Defendants may not use detention, incarceration, and the threat of 

incarceration to coerce payments from indigent persons who cannot afford to pay. 

142. Plaintiffs and putative class members will be adversely affected if 

Defendants continue to detain indigent people to coerce payment.  Plaintiffs and 

putative class members will be adversely affected if Defendants continue to require 

former probationers to report and pay after the probationers’ sentences are expired. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

On the basis of the foregoing, Plaintiffs respectfully pray that this Court: 

a. Assume jurisdiction over this action;

b. Determine by Order pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure that this action be maintained as a class action; 

c. Award Plaintiffs all actual damages, including damages for deprivation of

liberty, deprivation of money, mental anguish and emotional distress; 

d. Award Plaintiffs nominal and presumed damages for violations of Plaintiffs’

constitutional rights; 

e. Award Plaintiffs punitive damages to the extent permitted by law;

f. Declare that Defendants violated Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights by:
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1. seizing and detaining probationers during municipal court proceedings

to coerce immediate payments; threatening probationers with further 

detention and incarceration for non-payment; and holding indigent 

probationers in jail to coerce payment on city court fines and fees. 

2. requiring probationers to report to Red Hills personnel and pay money

after probation sentences are complete. 

g. Enjoin Defendants from:

1. seizing and detaining probationers during municipal court proceedings

to coerce payments; threatening probationers with further detention 

and incarceration for non-payment; holding indigent probationers in 

jail to coerce immediate payment on city court fines and fees. 

2. requiring probationers to report to Red Hills personnel and pay money

after probation sentences are complete. 

h. Award costs and reasonable attorney fees under 42 U.S.C. § 1988 and any

other applicable provision of law; 

i. Award such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Respectfully submitted this 10
th
 day of April, 2015. 

s/Sarah Geraghty 

Sarah Geraghty 

Georgia Bar No. 291393 

Ryan Primerano 
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Georgia Bar No. 404962 

Gerald Weber 

Georgia Bar No. 744878 

SOUTHERN CENTER  

   FOR HUMAN RIGHTS 

83 Poplar Street, N.W. 

Atlanta, GA 30303 

Telephone: (404) 688-1202 

Facsimile: (404) 688-9440 

sgeraghty@schr.org 
rprimerano@schr.org 

gweber@schr.org 

Counsel for the Plaintiffs 
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